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The original Lyman House was a "Cape Cod" type with a high, steep 
pitched thatched roof with dormers making up the second floor. 
The second floor was divided into sleeping quarters for some of 
the Lyman's eight children. The house kitchen was a semi-detached 
building at the rear of the house with an open fireplace and oven 
constructed out of rough stones, bricks being then unknown to 
Hawaii. The majority of the first floor interior is hand hewn 
koa (Hawaiian Hardwood). The doors of a cross and open bible 
motif, also made of koa, were made by the Boarding School boys. 
The windows of puddled glass, were brought from New England. The 
flooring is of hand hewn koa planks, with timbers in the main house 
also from koa.

Major renovations in 1856 added a new wing to be used as a study 
and library for Rev. Lyman. A new second story was added at this 
time with an attic. Northwest pine was substituted for koa on the 
second floor. A galvanized iron roof replaced the thatched pan- 
danus roof. The newly remodelled house was in a way the New 
E n g 1 a nd Classical style. .

An earthquake in 1868 threw most of the plaster from the walls. 
As a result, the interior walls were stripped bare and covered 
with cheesecloth and wallpaper. The entire house was moved in 
1932. The house originally faced NE toward the ocean. After the 
move, the house faced SE, a 90 degree shift, and rested 75 feet 
inland from its original position. The house lost its cellar in 
the move and no cellar was dug to replace the old one.

The Lyman house as it stands today is a two-story and attic wood 
structure. This dignified colonial dwelling has a wide two-story 
verandah with low-pitch gable roofs covered with English corru­ 
gated iron. The details are traditional with wood siding and 
trim. Paneled doors and double-hung wood sashes with green lou- 
vered shutters are present. An unusual departure is the twenty 
glass panes in the first floor sash. An additional one-story 
gabled wing projects from the end of the main building.

The interior (presently museum use) has a typical New England lay­ 
out with a center hall and living rooms on each side. The second 
floor is divided into four corner bedrooms. The attic, approached 
by a narrow steep stair, is a single large unfinished space with 
open roof framing. Here on the walls are indications of the ori­ 
ginal steep framing for the former thatched roof.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Reverend D.B. Lyman House was the residence for the first 
permanent Congregational missionaires in Hilo, built in 1838. It 
is the oldest frame structure on Hawaii Island today.

Reverend David Belden Lyman and his wife, Sarah Joiner Lyman 
arrived in Hawaii in 1832, members of the fifth company of mission­ 
aries sent to the Islands by the American Board of Commissioners for 
Foreign Missions. The Lymans lived in a variety of homes, from a 
Hawaiian style thatched house to a "Cape Cod" prefab, before they 
built their own house in 1838.

The home was built in conjunction with the Hilo Boarding School, 
established a few years earlier in 1836. Six professional car­ 
penters and Boarding School students worked on the structure. The 
school boys brought coral from the sea and with coconuts for fuel, 
lime for the foundation of four solid walls was processed. The 
Lyman House was a copy of the Cape Cod type but with a high steep 
pitched thatched roof with dormers making up the second floor.

Although Rev. Lyman spent the majority of his tifne working with 
and for the students of the Hilo Boarding School, he did substitute 
as pastor for Haili Church when Rev. Titus Coan was on extended 
tours. The Rev. and Mrs. Lyman were also founding members of the 
First Foreign Church, a church established in 1868 for the foreign 
residents of Hilo.

In 1854, the 
of West Coast 
lumber was to 
On October 20 
additional wi 
ond story was 
steep rafters 
superimposed 
garret. The

"California Schooner" arrived in Hilo with a full load 
lumber. Rev. Lyman bought the entire shipment. The 
be used for the school, his house, and Haili Church. 

, 1855, renovations on the house were begun. An 
ng with a study and library for Rev. Lyman and a sec- 
added. The earlier second floor was razed and on the 
and support beams, the northwest pine beams were 

for a roof, less steep and accomodating a spacious 
original koa (hardwood) rafters can be seen in the
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The present site of the house is a wide-open lot with gently 
sloping lawns, clipped hedges, shrubs and scattered palms, all 
forming an attractive, appropriate setting. Architecturally, 
this building is an excellent example of early missionary style, 
being complete, well organized structure, and is well maintained
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attic today with 
from England was 
newly remodelled

the old notches quite visible. Galvanized iron 
used to replace the original thatched roof. The 
house was in the New England Classical style.

Originally, all interior walls were plastered but the Ka'u earth­ 
quake of 1868 threw the plaster from the walls. At that time, 
all plaster was removed from the walls and the bare boards were 
wallpapered. Following the purchase of the house by Mrs. Emma 
Lyman in 1930, the first floor walls were repapered. Before the 
1932 extension of Haili Street and the opening of Haili Hill Housing 
Tract, the Lyman House was moved across the street and inland from 
its original site. On July 16, 1932, the house was made available 
as a museum.

During Rev. Lyman's lifetime, many dignitaries stayed at his house. 
All of Hawaii's monarchs from Kamehameha III to the last Queen of 
Hawaii, Li 1iuokalani , were visitors. Probably one of the most 
colorful visitors was author Mark Twain who visited on June 20, 
1866 during his famous tour of the islands as a correspondent for 
the Sacramento Union.


